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QUESTIONS PRESENTED 

1. Whether a domestic securities transaction is itself sufficient to 

permissibly apply Section 10(b) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934. 

 

2. Whether a senior executive who drafts a false or misleading statement 

and inserts it into investor materials is subject to primary liability under 

Rule 10b-5(a) or (c), even if that individual is not the maker of the 

statement for purposes of Rule 10b-5(b). 
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STATEMENT OF THE CASE 

Alcollezione is an Italian wine and spirits manufacturer with sales in 

Europe and the United States. (R. at 1-3). During the relevant period, its 

leadership consisted of Chief Executive Officer Gianni Marconi, an 

entrepreneur responsible for several successful American businesses, Chief 

Financial Officer Benny Factor, a “highly successful senior financial executive 

at a major American corporation,” and General Counsel Ava Cato, an Italian 

lawyer who “graduated at the top of her class.” (R. at 1-3). Marconi and Factor, 

both United States citizens, launched Alcollezione in 2009 with Cato 

incorporating the company in Italy and establishing its “headquarters in 

Milan.” (R. at 2). Cato was initially unfamiliar with the industry’s regulatory 

landscape but diligently familiarized herself. (R. at 2). In 2011, the trio of 

executives took the company public with an initial public offering of common 

stock on the Italian stock exchange (“the Borsa”). (R. at 1-3). Business boomed, 

and they began marketing in the United States where they were met with great 

success. (R. at 3). 

In 2016, the trio traveled to New York, where they met some of Factor’s 

friends in the New York finance industry, including banker Doris Schutt. 

During a night out, Schutt suggested Alcollezione form a local subsidiary, or 

alternatively that it sponsor an American Depository Receipt (“ADR”) “to access 

the American capital markets.” (R. at 3). An ADR is “a security whose value is 

the product of a foreign stock’s price.” (R. at 14). Despite Marconi’s interest, he 

declined both offers, in part because of the increased travel requirements. 
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(R. at 3). That summer, Marconi was featured in Slow Company. In the piece, 

he expressed his desire to remain abroad despite Alcollezione’s popularity in 

the United States. However, he refused to “relinquish his United States 

citizenship” because “‘you never know what tomorrow holds.’” (R. at 3-4). 

What “tomorrow” held was a phone call from Schutt expressing her 

intention to use her position at Hansen Bank and Trust in New York to create 

an unsponsored Alcollezione ADR. She explained that several American hedge 

funds were impressed with Alcollezione and wanted to invest, but because of 

her friendship with Factor, she wanted to “check with the company” before 

filing the requisite paperwork with the Securities and Exchange Commission 

(“SEC”). Although Marconi typically deferred to Factor on these matters, he 

consented by stating “any friend of Factor’s is a friend of mine.” (R. at 4). 

Schutt’s bank created the Alcollezione ADR and sold it to hedge funds in New 

York and Connecticut. (R. at 4). 

In advance of the 2017 Annual Meeting, the trio discussed a plan to 

increase market share. Marconi proposed Frizzantissimo, a low calorie “spiked 

mineral water with all of the ‘bubbly goodness’ of their signature Prosecco” and 

Factor and Cato were immediately sold. (R. at 5). Marconi worked to make the 

announcement of Frizzantissimo the “cornerstone” of his Annual Meeting 

presentation while Cato set out to research regulatory requirements. (R. at 5). 

In light of tightening beverage regulations, investors would “require assurances 

regarding the product’s regulatory compliance” for Frizzantissimo to succeed. 

(R. at 5). However, Cato’s legal research revealed that compliance was “unlikely 
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in the short term.” (R. at 5). Displeased with this news, Marconi asked her to 

provide the required assurances anyway. She was “visibly skeptical” but 

eventually capitulated and drafted false statements asserting that “the product 

was to be approved and ready for market” the following year. (R. at 5-6). 

At the Annual Meeting, Marconi highlighted hard-seltzer’s “booming” success 

in the United States and introduced Frizzantissimo. (R. at 6, n.3). The 

presentation included the slide show and financial statements, both of which 

contained Cato’s false assurances (R. at 6). The deceptive slide deck, financial 

statements, and a video of the announcement were posted on the “Investor 

Relations” section of Alcollezione’s website. (R. at 6). Following the 

announcement, the stock and ADR prices for Alcollezione “soared over 8%” 

overnight and continued to rise another 14% through early 2018. (R. at 6).  

On March 14, 2018, Italian authorities ordered Alcollezione to 

immediately cease production of Frizzantissimo for failing to comply with 

regulatory standards. Prices of the stock and ADRs plummeted by 29% and 

27%, respectively, and all three executives resigned. (R. at 6). 

On September 6, 2018, “hedge fund managers who had purchased 

Alcollezione ADRs,” including Petitioner Robert Maxelrod, filed this action 

against Alcollezione and its three senior executives seeking compensatory 

damages for violations of Section 10(b) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 

(15 U.S.C. § 78j(b) (“the Exchange Act”)) and 17 C.F.R. § 240.10b-5 (“Rule 10b-

5”). Alcollezione and Marconi settled with Petitioners for undisclosed amounts, 

while Factor and Cato moved to dismiss the complaint. The District Court 
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dismissed all claims against Factor but denied Cato’s motion, holding that she 

was “involved in a domestic transaction sufficient for Section 10(b) to apply” 

and that she “effectively served as the disseminator of Marconi’s allegedly false 

. . . statements,” subjecting her to liability under 10b-5(a) and (c). (R. at 8). 

Cato sought interlocutory appeal under 28 U.S.C. § 1292(b), arguing that the 

court erred in holding that a domestic transaction “is alone sufficient for the 

extraterritorial application of Section 10(b),” and that she should be subject to 

primary liability as a disseminator of false statements under Rule 10b-5. (R. at 

8-9). The Court of Appeals for the Fourteenth Circuit reversed, holding 

application of Section 10(b) here would be impermissibly extraterritorial, and 

that Cato was not subject to primary liability. (R. at 16, 23). 

STANDARD OF REVIEW 

Review of a motion to dismiss under Fed. R. Civ. P. 12(b)(6) is de novo 

and the reviewing court must accept “all of the complaint’s factual allegations 

as true and [draw] all reasonable inferences in the plaintiffs’ favor.” Giunta v. 

Dingman, 893 F.3d 73 (2d Cir. 2018). The “complaint must contain sufficient 

factual matter, accepted as true, to ‘state a claim to relief that is plausible on 

its face.’” Ashcroft v. Iqbal, 556 U.S. 662, 678 (2009) (citing Bell Atl. Corp. v. 

Twombly, 550 U.S. 544 (2007)). 

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT 

Under a straightforward reading of Morrison v. National Australia Bank, 

Ltd., 561 U.S. 247 (2010), a domestic transaction is sufficient to apply § 10(b). 

Stoyas v. Toshiba Corp., 896 F.3d 933, 950 (9th Cir. 2018). Contra Parkcentral 
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Global HUB Ltd. v. Porsche Automobile Holdings SE, 763 F.3d 198 (2d Cir. 

2014) (per curiam). This is consistent with Morrison’s intent to create 

uniformity and predictability with a clear rule. Although comity is instructive in 

statutory interpretation, it is important not to “double count” comity issues. 

Morrison resolved comity issues when it concluded that § 10(b) only applies to 

domestic transactions. Moreover, personal jurisdiction law protects a 

corporation from being hauled into court when it is uninvolved in a 

transaction, Hanson v. Denckla, 357 U.S. 235 (1958), or when it is not “at 

home.” Daimler AG v. Bauman, 571 U.S. 117 (2014). § 10(b) applies here 

because the Alcollezione ADR sales were domestic transactions. Toshiba, 896 

F.3d at 949-50. Moreover, even if a domestic transaction is not sufficient by 

itself, § 10(b) applies here because these transactions, which followed contacts 

between Alcollezione executives and the issuer during a time when Alcollezione 

was seeking to expand its presence in the United States, included “substantial 

domestic contacts.” See Giunta v. Dingman, 893 F.3d 73, 82-83 (2d Cir. 2018). 

The Fourteenth Circuit erred in holding that Cato is not subject to 

primary liability under Rule 10b-5(a) or (c). Plain-meaning textual analysis of 

the expansive proscriptions of the Rule indicate that such liability is 

appropriate here. First, this Court’s reasoning in Lorenzo v. Securities and 

Exchange Commission, 139 S. Ct. 1094, 1101 (2019) rests on the idea that the 

terms in Rule 10b-5 are expansive and allow for overlap between subsections. 

Thus, the Fourteenth Circuit’s holding that Cato’s conduct does not fit within 

subsections (a) or (c) because it relates to a false statement covered by 
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subsection (b) is erroneous. Second, even if Lorenzo only applies to 

disseminators of false statements, this Court should find it applies here. In the 

context of a corporate entity such as Alcollezione, the dissemination of 

information may reasonably include interstitial actors like Cato, each of whom 

constitutes part of the overall dissemination. This reasoning is particularly 

appropriate in light of the substantively legal nature of these assurances, 

which sophisticated parties would presume originate from a legal advisor like 

Cato. Finally, even if Lorenzo does not apply, Cato’s substantial role in the 

fraud is sufficient to subject to her to primary liability. In Central Bank of 

Denver, N.A., v. First Interstate Bank of Denver, N.A., 511 U.S. 164, 191 (1994) 

and Stoneridge Investment Partners, LLC v. Scientific-Atlanta, 552 U.S. 148, 

165-66 (2008), this Court explained that a secondary actor, such as a lawyer 

who commits a primary violation, may be liable in a private action. Cato’s 

fraudulent conduct fits squarely within this Court’s prior precedent. Holding 

otherwise would leave harmed parties with no recourse while allowing 

deceptive conduct to go unpunished. As such, this Court should reverse. 

ARGUMENT 

I. APPLICATION OF SECTION 10(b) IS PROPER HERE BECAUSE A 
DOMESTIC SECURITIES TRANSACTION IS SUFFICIENT OR 
BECAUSE THE TRANSACTIONS HERE INCLUDED SUBSTANTIAL 
DOMESTIC CONTACTS. 

 
A. Under Morrison, a Domestic Transaction Is Sufficient for a 

Permissible Application of Section 10(b). 
 

In Morrison v. National Australia Bank Ltd., 561 U.S. 247 (2010), this 

Court held that a domestic securities transaction is necessary to apply Section 



P10 

 7 

10(b) because the Act does not apply extraterritorially. Below, the Fourteenth 

Circuit followed Parkcentral Global HUB Ltd. v. Porsche Automobile Holdings SE, 

763 F.3d 198, 215 (2d Cir. 2014) (per curiam) and held that a domestic 

transaction is not sufficient by itself to apply § 10(b). (R. at 14). Contra Stoyas 

v. Toshiba Corp., 896 F.3d 933, 950 (9th Cir. 2018). That holding was incorrect 

because a domestic transaction is sufficient under a straightforward reading of 

Morrison and because the Parkcentral standard is inconsistent with Morrison’s 

aims of predictability and uniformity. This Court should reverse. 

1. A Domestic Transaction Is Sufficient Under a 
Straightforward Reading of Morrison and Its Progeny. 

 
Under the “presumption against extraterritoriality,” a canon of 

construction, a statute does not apply extraterritorially unless “Congress 

clearly expressed” an “affirmative intention” to that effect. Morrison, 561 U.S. at 

255 (citing EEOC v. Arabian American Oil Co., 499 U.S. 244 (1991)) (internal 

quotations omitted). Thus, “when a statute gives no clear indication of an 

extraterritorial application, it has none.” Id. The proper question is not 

“[w]hether...Congress would have wanted a statute to apply to foreign conduct 

‘if it had thought of the situation before the court, but whether Congress has 

affirmatively . . . instructed that the statute will do so.” RJR Nabisco, Inc. v. 

European Community, 136 S. Ct. 2090, 2100 (2016) (internal citations omitted). 

Once a court concludes that a statute does not apply extraterritorially, it must 

identify the statute’s “focus” and determine whether a party has alleged a 

“domestic application” of that focus. Morrison, 561 U.S. at 266-67. “If the 

conduct relevant to the statute’s focus occurred in the United States, then the 
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case involves a permissible domestic application even if other conduct occurred 

abroad.” RJR Nabisco, 136 S. Ct. at 2101. In other words, a domestic 

application of the focus is both necessary and sufficient to apply § 10(b). 

Toshiba Corp., 896 F.3d at 950. Contra Parkcentral, 763 F.3d at 215. 

In Kiobel v. Royal Dutch Petroleum Co., 569 U.S. 108, 124-25 (2010) this 

Court suggested that “where the claims touch and concern the territory of the 

United States, they must do so with sufficient force to displace the 

presumption . . . .” This should not be confused for a free-floating domesticity 

analysis. Kiobel interpreted the Alien Tort Statute (“ATS”), a jurisdictional 

statute, in a case where the claims involved exclusively foreign facts. Thus, 

Kiobel’s dicta should be understood as guidance regarding what constitutes a 

permissible ATS claim. See RJR Nabisco, 136 S. Ct. at 2101 (“[B]ecause ‘all the 

relevant conduct’ regarding those violations ‘took place outside the United 

States,’ we did not need to determine . . . the statute’s ‘focus’ [in Kiobel].”). 

 In Morrison, 561 U.S. at 266, this Court held that § 10(b)’s focus is “not 

upon the place where the deception originated, but upon purchases and sales 

of securities in the United States.” See also 15 U.S.C. § 78j(b) (§ 10(b)). Thus, 

under the “transactional test,” § 10(b) “punishes not all acts of deception, but 

only such acts in connection with [(1)] the purchase or sale of any security 

registered on a national securities exchange or [(2)] any [domestic] security not 

so registered.” Morrison, 561 U.S. at 269-72 (internal quotations omitted). 

§ 10(b) did not apply because the case involved domestic deception but foreign 

transactions. Id. at 252 n.1, 273. No additional domestic conduct would have 
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permitted application of § 10(b) because the “focus” of § 10(b) is on domestic 

transactions. See id. at 266. (“[I]t is a rare case of prohibited extraterritorial 

application that lacks all contact with the . . . United States. But the 

presumption . . . would be a craven watchdog indeed if it retreated to its kennel 

whenever some domestic activity is involved . . . .”). 

 Despite this Court’s clear instruction that § 10(b)’s focus is on domestic 

transactions, rather than conduct, the Fourteenth Circuit relied on Parkcentral, 

763 F.3d at 216 (looking to whether a claim is “so predominantly foreign as to 

be impermissibly extraterritorial”), holding that a domestic transaction in 

“securities not listed on domestic exchanges” is not sufficient itself to apply 

§ 10(b). (R. at 14). Parkcentral, 763 F.3d at 207, involved a § 10(b) claim related 

to “securities-based swap agreements”1 made in the United States and 

“deceptive conduct [that] occurred primarily in Germany.” In other words, 

foreign conduct but domestic transactions. Contrary to Morrison’s instruction 

that “the exclusive focus [is] on domestic purchases and sale[s],” 561 U.S. at 

268 (Scalia, J.), the Second Circuit held that a domestic transaction was 

insufficient because “the [Morrison] Court did not say that such a transaction 

was sufficient . . . .” Parkcentral, 763 F.3d at 215 (emphasis in original). But 

see RJR Nabisco, 136 S. Ct. at 2101 (discussing RICO, this Court wrote, “If the 

conduct relevant to the statute’s focus occurred in the United States, then the 

case involves a permissible domestic application even if other conduct occurred 

                                                
1 “[A] private contract [exchanging] cash flows that depend on the price of a 
reference security.” Id. at 205 (internal quotations omitted). The domestic 
swaps referenced Volkswagen shares traded on foreign exchanges. Id. at 206. 
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abroad.”); Antonin Scalia & Bryan A. Garner, Reading Law: The Interpretation 

of Legal Texts 107 (1st ed. 2012) (The expressio unius canon instructs that 

“[t]he expression of one thing implies the exclusion of others” and thus the 

Morrison framework should not be interpreted to include unstated 

requirements.). In Toshiba, the Ninth Circuit rejected Parkcentral: 

Parkcentral . . . is contrary to Section 10(b) and Morrison itself. It 
carves-out “predominantly foreign” securities fraud claims from 
Section 10(b)’s ambit, disregarding Section 10(b)’s text: the domestic 
“purchase or sale of any security registered on a national securities 
exchange or any security not so registered” [and] relies heavily on 
the foreign location of the allegedly deceptive conduct, which 
Morrison held to be irrelevant. . . . 

 
896 F.3d at 950 (citing Parkcentral, 763 F.3d at 215-16, and § 10(b)) (internal 

citations omitted) (emphasis in original). Consistent with Morrison’s emphasis 

on transaction location, a domestic transaction is sufficient to apply § 10(b) 

regardless of where other conduct occurred. Toshiba, 896 F.3d at 949-50. 

2. Finding that a Domestic Transaction Is Sufficient Is 
Consistent with the Intent of Morrison. 

 
Morrison intended to create uniformity and predictability using a clear 

rule. See Morrison, 561 U.S. at 261 (“[r]ather than guess anew in each case, we 

apply the presumption [against extraterritoriality] in all cases, preserving a 

stable background against which Congress can legislate with predictable 

effects”). The Fourteenth Circuit erred by adopting an unpredictable standard. 

For decades prior to Morrison, the Second Circuit used the “conduct and 

effects” test to determine whether a statute could apply extraterritorially. 

Morrison, 561 U.S. at 257. Generally, the test asked: “whether the wrongful 

conduct had a substantial effect in the United States or upon United States 
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citizens,” or “whether the wrongful conduct occurred in the United States.” Id. 

at 257 (internal quotations omitted). Morrison explicitly rejected this regime, 

criticizing it as “a collection of tests for divining what Congress would have 

wanted, complex in formulation and unpredictable in application.” Id. at 256; 

see also Stephen J. Choi & Linda J. Silberman, Transnational Litigation and 

Global Securities Class-Action Lawsuits, 2009 Wis. L. Rev. 465 (2009) (outlining 

uncertainty) cited in Morrison, 561 U.S. at 260. Most importantly, “[t]here is no 

more damning indictment . . . than the Second Circuit’s own declaration that 

‘the presence or absence of any single factor which was considered significant 

in other cases . . . is not necessarily dispositive in future cases.’” Morrison, 

561 U.S. at 258-59 (citing IIT v. Cornfeld, 619 F.2d 909, 918 (2d Cir. 1980)). 

Consistent with Morrison’s intent to create a clear rule, once a court finds 

a domestic transaction, application of § 10(b) is proper under Toshiba. 

896 F.3d at 949-50. Contrary to Morrison’s intent, the Parkcentral court wrote: 

We do not purport to proffer a test that will reliably determine when 
a particular invocation of § 10(b) will be deemed appropriately 
domestic or impermissibly extraterritorial . . . . Neither do we see 
anything in Morrison that requires us to adopt a “bright-line” test 
. . . . 
 

763 F.3d at 217-18. See also Toshiba, 896 F.3d at 950 (Parkcentral provides 

“an open-ended, under-defined multi-factor test”) (internal citations omitted); 

Raphael Toman, Note, The Extraterritorial Reach of the U.S. Securities Laws and 

Non-Conventional Securities: Recent Development after Morrison and Dodd-

Frank, 14 N.Y.U. J.L. & Bus. 657, 695 (2018) (this Court has at times 

interpreted the Exchange Act “flexibly,” but Parkcentral “marks a return to the 
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unpredictability criticized . . . in Morrison”). This uncertainty will make it 

onerous for corporations to structure their affairs. For example, imagine the 

situation of a corporation’s general counsel who must determine the scope of 

her client’s potential § 10(b) liability. Under Toshiba, she may reasonably 

forecast liability by looking to transaction locations. While there may be some 

uncertainty, she can at least give generally reliable information to her client. In 

contrast, under Parkcentral she cannot forecast liability without expending 

time and money investigating the facts of each individual transaction. Even 

then, she cannot provide her client with any degree of certainty in any 

transaction with any foreign facts because she cannot predict how foreign is 

too foreign. The Parkcentral standard is not administrable and is thus 

unfaithful to Morrison. 

3. Comity Concerns Do Not Justify Departing from a 
Straightforward Reading of Morrison. 

 
The Parkcentral court justified its departure from a straightforward 

reading of Morrison because it believed that to hold otherwise “would inevitably 

place § 10(b) in conflict with the regulatory laws of other nations.” Parkcentral, 

763 F.3d at 215. Comity considerations tend to belong to the related body of 

law known as “jurisdiction to prescribe”—the authority of a nation-state to 

extend its law to particular conduct, persons, property, or offenses. See 

Restatement (Fourth) of the Foreign Relations Law of the United States §§ 402-

05 (distinguishing jurisdiction to prescribe from the presumption against 

extraterritoriality). Altering the Morrison framework would be improper because 

Morrison resolved comity concerns by concluding § 10(b) only applies to 
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domestic transactions. Morrison, 561 U.S. at 269-70 (explaining that its test 

resolves concerns regarding “interference with foreign securities regulation”). 

And because when “combining other comity limitations with the presumption 

against extraterritoriality, a court should take care not to double-count the 

legitimate interests of other states.” Restatement, supra, at § 405, cmt. C. The 

Parkcentral standard would double-count Italy’s interest here because under 

Morrison, § 10(b) cannot apply to Alcollezione shares, which only trade on the 

Borsa, and thus this suit will not interfere with Italian law. Finally, inventing a 

new standard to satisfy Congress’s hypothetical policy aims represents the 

exact judicial methodology this Court took to task in Morrison. Compare 

Morrison, 561 U.S. at 261 (rejecting “judicial-speculation-made-law”) with 

Parkcentral, 763 F.3d at 216 (“[A]pplication of § 10(b) . . . would so obviously 

implicate the incompatibility of U.S. and foreign laws that Congress could not 

have intended it sub silentio.”). 

4. The Law of Personal Jurisdiction Limits Potential 
Section 10(b) Liability of Foreign Corporations. 

 
In Parkcentral, 763 F.3d at 215, the Second Circuit expressed concern 

about § 10(b) liability for “wholly foreign activity clearly subject to regulation by 

foreign authorities solely because a plaintiff in the United States made a 

domestic transaction, even if the foreign defendants were completely unaware 

of it.” This concern is overstated because of personal jurisdiction law. 

Under the Fourteenth Amendment, a court cannot render a judgment 

without personal jurisdiction over the defendant. E.g., Bristol-Myers Squibb Co. 

v. Superior Ct., 137 S. Ct. 1773 (2017); Pennoyer v. Neff, 95 U.S. 714 (1878); 
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U.S. Const. amend. XIV, § 1 (Due Process Clause). A forum has specific 

jurisdiction when “the litigation results from alleged injuries that ‘arise out of 

or relate to’” the defendant’s forum-directed activities. Burger King Corp. v. 

Rudzewicz, 471 U.S. 462, 472 (1985) (internal citations omitted). Specific 

jurisdiction cannot be created by the “unilateral activity” of a third party. 

Hanson v. Denckla, 357 U.S. 235, 253 (1958). Exercise of specific jurisdiction 

must be reasonable and “burdens placed upon one who must defend oneself in 

a foreign legal system . . . have significant weight in assessing . . . 

reasonableness.” Asahi Metal Indus. Co. v. Superior Ct., 480 U.S. 102, 113-14 

(1987). Alternatively, a forum has general jurisdiction over a corporate 

defendant “only when [its] affiliations with the [forum] are so constant and 

pervasive ‘as to render [it] essentially at home.’” Daimler AG v. Bauman, 

571 U.S. 117, 122 (2014) (citing Goodyear Dunlop Tires Operations, S.A. v. 

Brown, 564 U.S. 915 (2011)). Usually these locations will only be a corporate 

defendant’s “place of incorporation [or] principal place of business.”2 

American courts will lack specific jurisdiction when the foreign defendant 

was unaware of the domestic transaction because putative jurisdiction would 

have been the result of the plaintiff’s “unilateral activity,” see Denckla, 

357 U.S. at 253, and because the exercise of jurisdiction may be unreasonable. 

See Asahi, 480 U.S. at 114. Courts will lack general jurisdiction because 

                                                
2 Daimler, 571 U.S. at 137. Morrison was decided during an era of expansive 
personal jurisdiction which Daimler ended. See generally, Tanya J. Monestier, 
Where Is Home Depot “At Home”?: Daimler v. Bauman and the End of Doing 
Business Jurisdiction, 66 Hastings L.J. 233 (2014) (overviewing change). 
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foreign defendants are unlikely to be “at home” in an American forum. See 

Daimler, 571 U.S. at 137. Thus, Parkcentral’s concerns were overstated. 

B. Application of Section 10(b) is Proper in This Case. 
 

Application of § 10(b) is proper because the Alcollezione ADR sales were 

domestic transactions. Toshiba, 896 F.3d at 949-50. Moreover, even if a 

domestic transaction is not sufficient by itself, § 10(b) applies because these 

transactions included “substantial domestic contacts.” See Giunta v. Dingman, 

893 F.3d 73, 82-83 (2d Cir. 2018). 

1. Application of Section 10(b) is Proper Because the Sales 
of Alcollezione ADRs Were Domestic Transactions. 

 
It is undisputed that the sales of Alcollezione ADRs in New York and 

Connecticut constituted domestic transactions. Both courts below found 

domestic transactions. (R. at 8, 14) (relying on Absolute Activist Value Master 

Fund Ltd. v. Ficeto, 677 F.3d 60, 67 (2d Cir. 2012) (test is whether “irrevocable 

liability is incurred or title passes within the United States”). In any event, 

Respondent has waived this argument by only appealing on the sufficiency of a 

domestic transaction. See (R. at 8). Because a domestic transaction occurred, 

application of § 10(b) is proper here. Toshiba, 896 F.3d at 949-50. 

§ 10(b) only reaches conduct “in connection with the purchase or sale of 

. . . any security.” 15 U.S.C. § 78j(b). The conduct must “touch the sale.” 

Toshiba, 896 F.3d at 951. (internal quotation omitted). The Alcollezione ADRs 

were unsponsored but, as Judge Newman’s dissent below explained, several 

courts have applied § 10(b) under the Parkcentral framework in cases where 

“ADRs or related securities were the product of some involvement by the 
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corresponding foreign companies.” (R. at 28) (Newman, J., dissenting) 

(emphasis in original); see also In re Volkswagen “Clean Diesel” Mktg., Sales 

Practices, & Prods. Liab. Litig., 2017 WL 66281 at *5 (N.D. Cal. Jan. 4, 2017) 

(“Volkswagen sponsored the ADRs and thus was directly involved . . . .”); 

Atlantica Holdings, Inc. v. BTA Bank JSC, 2015 WL 144165 at *1-2, 8 (S.D.N.Y. 

Jan. 12, 2015) (defendant was sufficiently involved in the issuing of 

“Subordinated Notes to its existing debt-holders” which could “be acquired only 

through a direct participant . . . Plaintiffs’ broker in Miami”). 

Below, the District Court found Cato was “involved in a domestic 

transaction” and therefore this claim could proceed. (R. at 8) (emphasis added). 

Unlike in Parkcentral, 763 F.3d at 207, where the defendant was not involved 

with the swaps at all, the Alcollezione ADRs were issued following a series of 

contacts between Alcollezione senior executives and the issuer. (R. at 3-4). The 

executives, including Cato, met with Schutt, a banker from the issuer, during a 

night out in New York City and discussed Alcollezione’s future in the United 

States. In that informal setting, Marconi turned down the idea of issuing 

sponsored ADRs. (R. at 3). However, during a subsequent phone call, Schutt 

asked for, and received Marconi’s consent to create unsponsored Alcollezione 

ADRs. (R. at 4). It is reasonable to infer that Cato, as General Counsel, was 

aware of this fact. Had Alcollezione opposed the unsponsored ADRs, it likely 

could have blocked Schutt’s attempts by sponsoring its own ADRs, even after 
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Schutt created them.3 Thus, Alcollezione’s subsequent silence suggests that 

the leadership—including Cato—affirmatively, rather than passively, approved 

of the ADRs. Soon after, Alcollezione developed Frizzantissimo and planned to 

expand its presence in the United States. See (R. at 6, n.3). Alcollezione also 

posted “investor materials in English on its webpage in accordance with SEC 

requirements,” (R. at 29) (Newman, J., dissenting), which suggests Cato, in her 

role as General Counsel, considered Alcollezione subject to SEC reporting 

requirements because of its involvement with the ADRs.4 It stands to reason 

that Cato, who was part of legal and business decisions, was aware of the of 

the Alcollezione ADRs when she drafted the relevant statements. This Court 

should follow the District Court below and find that Cato’s involvement was 

sufficient to render her conduct “in connection with” the ADRs. See § 78j. 

These allegations are more than sufficient to state a “plausible” claim. See 

Iqbal, 556 U.S. at 678. 

2. Even if a Domestic Transaction Is Not Sufficient by 
Itself, Section 10(b) Applies Because These Transactions 
Included “Substantial Domestic Contacts.” 

 
In Giunta v. Dingman, the only other case in which the Second Circuit 

has applied the Parkcentral standard to § 10(b), the court held that § 10(b) 

                                                
3 See American Depositary Receipts, Securities Act Release Nos. 33-6984; 34-
29226, 1991 WL 294145 at *4 (The SEC “staff and, until recently, ADR market 
participants have taken the position that . . . if a sponsored [ADR] existed, no 
other depositary could create another . . . . Similarly, if a sponsored [ADR] were 
created after the establishment of [an] unsponsored ADR . . .”). 
4 See Volkswagen “Clean Diesel” Litig., 2017 WL 66281 at *6 (compliance with 
regulations helped “establish a sufficient connection [with] the United States”); 
See generally 15 U.S.C. § 78l(g) (reporting rules); 17 C.F.R. § 240.12g3-
2(b)(3)(ii) (exempting foreign issuers who post disclosures online in English). 
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could apply to a domestic transaction with an entirely foreign business because 

the complaint nonetheless alleged “substantial domestic contacts” related to 

the transaction. 893 F.3d 73, 82-83 (2d Cir. 2018). Here, the Alcollezione ADR 

transactions included “substantial domestic contacts” and thus § 10(b) applies 

even if a domestic transaction is not sufficient by itself. See id. 

The number of foreign facts permitted in Dingman instruct that 

Parkcentral’s “predominantly foreign” bar is very high. See Parkcentral, 

763 F.3d at 216. In Dingman, the defendant was “a permanent resident of the 

Bahamas,” the corporate “entities were incorporated in the Bahamas by a 

Bahamian lawyer,” the business “involved development and operation of 

restaurants, bars, and hotels in the Bahamas,” and the “witnesses and the 

books and records [were] in the Bahamas.” 893 F.3d at 82-83. Nonetheless, 

§ 10(b) applied because of “substantial domestic contacts” related to the 

underlying business agreement. Id. Specifically, “[t]he [a]greement was entered 

into in New York,” the defendant “continued to press . . . for further 

investments in New York,” the defendants “were both U.S. citizens[,] the wire 

transfers originated from New York . . . and the confirmation letters were sent 

to New York.” Id. “The only foreign component present in the formation of the 

Agreement was the eventual registration of the shares ‘with the appropriate 

Bahamian authorities.’” Id. The Fourteenth Circuit distinguished Dingman on 

its facts but apparently failed to consider the New York City meeting, Marconi’s 

phone call with Schutt, and the Annual Meeting slides. See (R. at 15) (Majority 

Opinion). Moreover, Dingman’s “substantial domestic contacts” analysis 
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focused on facts surrounding “the Agreement,” 893 F.3d at 82-83, while the 

Fourteenth Circuit’s analysis erroneously focused on facts surrounding the 

allegedly false statements. (R. at 15); see also Morrison, 561 U.S. at 266 (“the 

focus . . . is not upon the place where the deception originated, but upon 

purchases and sales of securities . . .”). Given the facts alleged, it is probable 

that discovery, which has necessarily been “stayed during the pendency of 

[this] motion to dismiss,” will unearth additional facts connecting Alcollezione 

to the issuing of these ADRs. 15 U.S.C. § 78u–4(b)(3)(B). Although Maxelrod 

need only state a plausible claim at this stage, the meetings and phone calls 

with the issuer in the United States and Alcollezione’s plans for expansion in 

the United States were “substantial domestic contacts” related to the 

transaction and therefore § 10(b) applies. See Dingman, 893 F.3d at 82. 

II. CATO IS SUBJECT TO PRIMARY LIABILITY UNDER RULE 10b-5 FOR 
DRAFTING FALSE REGULATORY ASSURANCES. 

 
The Fourteenth Circuit erred in holding that drafting false regulatory 

assurances cannot be a primary violation of Rule 10b-5(a) or (c). Rule10b-5, 

adopted by the SEC pursuant to its statutory authority under Section 10(b) of 

the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 provides that: 

It shall be unlawful for any person, directly or indirectly . . .  
(a) To employ any device, scheme, or artifice to defraud,  
(b) To make any untrue statement of a material fact or to omit 

to state a material fact necessary in order to make the statements 
made, in the light of the circumstances under which they were 
made, not misleading, or  

(c) To engage in any act, practice, or course of business which 
operates or would operate as a fraud or deceit upon any person, in 
connection with the purchase or sale of any security.  
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17 C.F.R. § 240.10b-5. This Court has consistently “assumed the existence of 

an implied cause of action under § 10(b) and Rule 10b-5.” Aaron v. S.E.C., 

446 U.S. 680, 689 (1980) (citing Ernst & Ernst v. Hochfelder, 425 U.S. 185, 

196-87 (1976)). However, private plaintiffs may only maintain actions against 

primary violators, not those who aid and abet a primary violation. See Central 

Bank of Denver, N.A., v. First Interstate Bank of Denver, N.A., 511 U.S. 164, 176 

(1994) (noting that Congress acts explicitly when it intends to allow private 

imposition of secondary liability). 

Here, by drafting false regulatory assurances that misled investors, Cato 

employed a “device” under subsection (a), or engaged in an “act, practice, or 

course of business” under subsection (c), both of which constituted a primary 

violation of Rule 10b-5. 17 C.F.R. § 240.10b-5.  

A. Cato’s Conduct Falls Within the Plain Meaning of Rule 10b-5. 
 

This Court has consistently instructed that “[t]he starting point in every 

case involving construction of a statute [or regulation] is the language itself.” 

Hochfelder, 425 U.S. at 197 (internal citation omitted). If that language is 

unambiguous, then “judicial inquiry is complete.” Rubin v. United States, 

449 U.S. 424, 430 (1981). Concerning Rule 10b-5, this Court noted in Lorenzo 

v. Securities and Exchange Commission, 139 S. Ct. 1094, 1101 (2019), that 

“these provisions capture a wide range of conduct.” See also Affiliated Ute 

Citizens of Utah v. United States, 406 U.S. 128, 151 (1972) (noting that the 

repeated use of the word “any” in the Rule evinces a clear intention of breadth). 



P10 

 21 

The ordinary meaning of “device” under subsection (a) concerns a thing 

that is created to achieve a particular end. Merriam Webster defines “device” as 

“something devised or contrived, such as [a] plan, procedure [or] technique.” 

Device, The Merriam-Webster Dictionary, https://www.merriam-

webster.com/dictionary/device (last visited Feb. 21, 2020). Here, Cato 

determined that regulatory compliance was unlikely but drafted explicit 

assurances to the contrary to mislead investors. (R. at 5-6). This course of 

conduct involved creating something to achieve a particular end and thus, 

constitutes a “device” within the meaning of Rule 10b-5(a). 

Likewise, the plain language of subsection (c) is sufficiently broad to 

capture Cato’s conduct. An “act” is something that is done or performed. A 

“course of business” is simply an “act” that is conducted in a business context. 

These false statements, drafted to reassure investors and disseminated broadly 

through various media were unquestionably part of a “course of business” 

within the meaning of subsection (a). (R. at 6). 

1. Lorenzo Should be Read Broadly as Encompassing Cato’s 
Conduct. 

 
In Lorenzo, 139 S. Ct. at 1099, the petitioner Francis Lorenzo sent emails 

to prospective investors containing false statements supplied by his superior. 

Lorenzo argued that since his superior “supplied the central content, and 

approved the messages for distribution,” he could not be primarily liable as the 

maker of the false statements. Id. at 1100 (citing Janus Capital Grp., Inc. v. 

First Derivative Traders, 564 U.S. 135, 142 (2011) (holding that only a person 

with “ultimate authority” over a statement may be considered the “maker” of 
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that statement)) (internal quotations omitted). Further, he argued that because 

the only deceptive conduct alleged concerned false statements, he was not 

primarily liable under subsections (a) or (c). Id. at 1101-02. This Court rejected 

Lorenzo’s argument, holding that disseminating a false statement “can fall 

within the scope of subsections (a) and (c) . . . even if the disseminator did not 

‘make’ the statements and subsequently falls outside subsection (b) of the 

Rule.” Id. at 1100-01.  

By proceeding from a broad textual analysis to the conclusion that the 

“expansive” nature of the Rule’s terms necessarily permits overlap, this Court 

intended Lorenzo’s holding to reach beyond the specific facts before them. Id. at 

1102. Indeed, Lorenzo notes that Janus remains relevant to preclude liability 

“where an individual neither makes nor disseminates false information—

provided, of course, that the individual is not involved in some other form of 

fraud.” Id. at 1103. (emphasis added). By carving out “some other form of 

fraud” in addition to dissemination, one must conclude that Lorenzo’s holding 

reaches other conduct involving false statements. Here, Cato’s conduct, which 

consisted of drafting false regulatory assurances, is a “paradigmatic example” 

of “some other . . . fraud” to which Lorenzo should apply. Id. 

Subsequently, courts interpreting Lorenzo have applied it beyond 

dissemination of false statements. In Malouf v. Securities and Exchange 

Commission, 933 F.3d 1248, 1260 (10th Cir. 2019), the Tenth Circuit held that 

under Lorenzo, an investment advisor’s failure to correct misstatements 

concerning a conflict of interest could trigger primary liability under Rule 10b-
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5(a) or (c). The petitioner in Malouf had neither made nor disseminated these 

statements but his conduct subjected him to primary liability because it fit the 

plain meaning of subsections (a) and (c). Id. In Securities and Exchange 

Commission v. SeeThruEquity, LLC, 2019 WL 1998027 at *5 (S.D.N.Y Apr. 26, 

2019), the SEC sued a stock research company for fraudulently misstating the 

integrity of their research practices. The court found that the SEC sufficiently 

alleged that “the defendants’ entire business model . . . [was] deceptive,” even 

though the overarching deception rested entirely on false statements. Id. 

Likewise, this Court should find that faithful application of Lorenzo requires 

that Rule 10b-5 reach broadly enough to “encompass the conduct at issue 

here.” (R. at 32) (DeQuinzio, J., dissenting). 

2. Even if Lorenzo Is Limited to its Facts, Cato Is Subject 
to Liability as a Disseminator. 

 
Even if Lorenzo only applies to disseminators of false statements, the 

Fourteenth Circuit erred in finding Cato was not a disseminator because their 

admittedly “cursory” textual analysis failed to account for contextual variation. 

(R. at 22). Specifically, dissemination in an organizational context may include 

interstitial actors, each of whom constitutes part of the overall dissemination. 

For example, one could describe a journalist who fabricates a newspaper article 

as disseminating false information, despite the fact that the newspaper has 

ultimate authority over publication and spreads the information by printing 

and distributing it.5 Here, Cato is analogous to the hypothetical journalist 

                                                
5 But see Janus, 564 U.S. at 143, (hypothesizing that the person who gives a 
speech, rather than the speechwriter who composes it, is responsible for its 
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because although she did not present the false information or post it on the 

website, she nonetheless played a primary role in its creation and 

dissemination to the public. Judge DeQuinzio had no trouble accepting this 

definition of the word, finding in dissent that “by drafting faulty assurances” 

that she both gave to Marconi, and added to “investor materials that were 

posted directly on the company’s public-facing webpage . . . [Cato] 

disseminated the misstatements.” (R. at 32) (DeQuinzio, J., dissenting). 

This line of reasoning is bolstered by the nature of the false information 

at issue. As compared with many § 10(b) actions where the fraud concerns 

financial attributes of a security, the information here—regulatory approval of a 

forthcoming consumer product—was inherently legal in nature. Sophisticated 

investors like Maxelrod would presume statements like these are the product of 

reliable legal research by an attorney like Cato. Looking at both the subject 

matter of the information and the overall context of its presentation, it is clear 

Cato disseminated these statements, notwithstanding the fact that she was not 

the last to share them. (R. at 6).  

3. Subjecting Cato to Primary Liability Comports with this 
Court’s Prior Precedent and Principles of Interpretation. 

 
Finally, the Fourteenth Circuit erred in finding that subjecting Cato to 

primary liability would contravene this Court’s prior holdings. First, the court 

erroneously notes that a finding of primary liability here would render “maker” 

liability under Janus obsolete. (R. at 23). This finding ignores the express 

                                                
content). By contrast, the facts here indicate a collaborative effort that the 
speechwriter analogy does not permit. (R. at 5-6). 
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acknowledgment in Lorenzo that involvement in “some other. . . fraud” aside 

from dissemination would also suffice to preclude the application of Janus. 

Lorenzo, 139 S. Ct. at 1103. Janus remains viable to preclude liability where a 

plaintiff is neither the maker of a false statement nor involved in other 

fraudulent conduct. Id. Further, Janus is fundamentally about the limits of 

“maker” liability for purposes of Rule 10b-5(b) so its reasoning cannot be 

imported to dispose of cases where the conduct concededly does not create 

liability under subsection (b). See S.E.C. v. Monterosso, 756 F.3d 1326, 1334 

(11th Cir. 2014) (noting that Janus’ holding is limited to the meaning “make” 

for purposes of subsection (b), and does not speak to the other subsections). In 

short, this Court may reverse the judgment of the Fourteenth Circuit while 

firmly maintaining the “clean distinction” between these two cases. Lorenzo, 

139 S. Ct. at 1104. 

Second, the Fourteenth Circuit erroneously admonishes this Court for 

engaging in “judicial gymnastics” to subject the petitioner in Lorenzo to primary 

liability, but engages in wholly unrecognized gymnastics of its own to come to 

the opposite conclusion. (R. at 15-16). First, the court found that Cato’s 

conduct did not fit subsection (a) because its terms “historically [carry] a 

connotation of ‘knowing or intentional practices.’” (R. at 21) (citing Aaron v. 

S.E.C., 446 U.S. 680, 696, (1980) (emphasis in original)). Since “practices” is an 

express term within subsection (c), this line of reasoning would seem to 

embrace the idea that the Rule’s proscriptions may overlap. However, the court 

next reasoned that as between subsections (b) and (c), overlap is impermissible. 
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(R. at 21). Cautioning against the precise construction of subsection (c) which 

the court implicitly endorses as to subsection (a) creates an irreconcilable 

paradox. Nothing in the Rule nor this Court’s precedent indicates that the 

individual subsections deserve such disparate treatment.6  

Moreover, the Fourteenth Circuit erroneously employed two canons of 

construction to reach their result. The general/specific canon, which instructs 

that specific terms in a rule narrow the scope of general ones, is inappropriate 

because each subsection describes different types of conduct that are not 

comparable in terms of scope. See S.E.C. v. Familant, 910 F. Supp. 2d 83, 96 

(D.D.C. 2012) (noting that “a ‘scheme’ is not more general than a 

‘misstatement’”); cf. RadLAX Gateway Hotel, LLC v. Amalgamated Bank, 

566 U.S. 639, 645-46 (2012) (applying the canon to a statute that describes 

different types of lienholder claims, and noting that it applies best when the 

terms are interrelated and closely positioned. (internal quotations omitted)). 

Likewise, the surplusage canon is inappropriate here because “[a]s long as 

some misstatements . . . covered by subsection (b) remain outside the grasp of 

. . . subsections (a) and (c), however—and some clearly do—there is no surplus 

in the language of the regulation.” Familant, 910 F. Supp. 2d at 95. Rather 

than add layers of extraneous interpretation, this Court should continue to 

                                                
6 The Fourteenth Circuit’s reasoning also finds no support in light of the 
conduct Rule 10b-5 is intended to proscribe. In response to the argument that 
subsection (c) cannot overlap with subsection (b), Justice Alito opined during 
oral argument in Lorenzo, “[subsection] (c) can't include any verbal conduct? It 
has to be something else? I don't quite know how you're going to engage in a 
fraud . . . without saying some words.” Transcript of Oral Argument at 12, 
Lorenzo v. S.E.C., 139 S. Ct. 1094 (2019) (No. 17-1077). 
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support a broad reading of the Rule that allows our securities laws to be 

“capable of adaptation to meet the countless and variable schemes devised by 

those who seek the use of the money of others on the promise of profits.” S.E.C. 

v. W.J. Howey Co., 328 U.S. 293, 299 (1946).  

Finally, the Fourteenth Circuit erred in distinguishing Lorenzo on the 

basis that it was an SEC enforcement action. (R. at 22). This reasoning is 

unsupported by the plain text of the Rule and this Court’s precedent since 

Central Bank, which has consistently sought to draw a “clean line” between 

primary and secondary liability. Janus, 564 U.S. at 143, n.6 (citing Central 

Bank, 511 U.S. at 177 (noting the distinction’s impact lies fundamentally in 

whether private plaintiffs may bring a claim)). This reasoning would create two 

types of primary liability, distinguishable solely by whether or not a private 

party may bring a claim. Such a standard would be the exact opposite of the 

administrable line this Court has historically sought to establish. 

B. Cato Should be Subject to Primary Liability Even If Lorenzo Does 
Not Apply. 

 
The Fourteenth Circuit erred in failing to appropriately consider prior 

precedent once it found that Lorenzo did not apply. Even if Lorenzo does not 

apply, Cato’s considerable role in the fraud is sufficient to subject her to 

primary liability. 

1. Prior Precedent Indicates that Subjecting Cato to 
Primary Liability is Appropriate. 

 
Although Lorenzo is this Court’s most recent exposition of the scope of 

Rule 10b-5, this Court’s earlier cases are also instructive. In Central Bank, 
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511 U.S. at 191, this Court explained that “any person . . . including a lawyer, 

accountant, or bank . . . may be liable as a primary violator under 10b-5. . . .” 

(emphasis added); see also Stoneridge Inv. Partners, LLC v. Scientific-Atlanta, 

552 U.S. 148, 165-66 (2008) (noting that the judicially-created private cause of 

action may apply to “secondary actors who commit primary violations.”). Under 

these cases, primary liability may be appropriate for those who are otherwise 

secondary players in the fraud. Here, Cato drafted false statements knowing 

they would be publicized through various media. Although she did not act 

alone, her acts constituted employment of a manipulative device under this 

Court’s pre-Lorenzo precedent. 

More recently in Monterosso, 765 F.3d at 1334, the Eleventh Circuit 

found that “deceptive contributions” to a fraudulent scheme were sufficient for 

liability under subsections (a) and (c). (citing Affiliated Ute, 406 U.S. at 152–

53).7 Building on this premise in City of Providence, Rhode Island v. Bats Global 

Markets, Inc., 878 F.3d 36, 51 (2d Cir. 2017), the Second Circuit found primary 

liability where defendants had “participated in” rather than facilitated the 

manipulative conduct. Here, Cato did more than merely facilitate the 

fraudulent conduct of her colleagues. She used her position of integrity and 

credibility as an attorney to draft substantively legal statements that were 

inserted into documents carrying the implicit weight of legal advice. In 

                                                
7 See also Familant, 910 F. Supp. 2d at 95 (finding conduct that involves a 
misstatement may violate subsections (a) and (c)); S.E.C. v. Langford, 2013 WL 
1943484, at *8 (D. Neb. May 9, 2013) (same); S.E.C. v. Sells, 2012 WL 
3242551, at *6 (N.D. Cal. Aug. 10, 2012) (same). 
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determining where Cato falls along the line between facilitation and 

participation, this Court should not downplay the fact that although Marconi 

delivered the false statements, the fundamental responsibility for devising and 

drafting them lay with Cato alone (R. at 5). 

2. Subjecting Cato to Primary Liability Comports with the 
Overall Goals of the Securities Laws. 

 
The Fourteenth Circuit’s premise that liability under subsections (a) and 

(c) must necessarily be distinct from misstatements is fundamentally at odds 

with the goal of the securities laws to “root out all manner of fraud.” Lorenzo, 

139 S. Ct. at 1104. Further, considering this position in light of the narrow 

definition of “make” set forth in Janus, the Fourteenth Circuit’s reasoning 

creates undue weakness in the ability of private litigants to seek redress. 

Actors who undertake participatory roles in the creation of false statements will 

escape liability so long as they neither made a statement for purposes of 

subsection (b), nor disseminated one for the purposes of subsections (a) or (c). 

This position is even more untenable in the SEC enforcement context. Because 

secondary liability must be anchored to a primary violation under 15 U.S.C. 

§ 78t(e), those who substantially participate in creating false statements would 

escape secondary liability whenever the SEC cannot prove the elements of the 

primary violation. See Lorenzo, 139 S. Ct. at 1104 (noting that such a loophole 

is fundamentally contrary to congressional intent); see also S.E.C. v. Capital 

Gains Research Bureau, 375 U.S. 180, 186 (1963) (noting that Congress 

intended securities fraud legislation to be construed “flexibly to effectuate its 

remedial purposes”). Moreover, when combined with the additional procedural 
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hurdles imposed by statute,8 the inevitable result of this position is that 

harmed parties will be left with no recourse while deceptive conduct will go 

unpunished.  

Finally, the Fourteenth Circuit’s concerns about frivolous litigation and 

judicial economy are misplaced, and affirming their holding would be a severe 

and unnecessary overcorrection. (R. at 19). Specifically, as Judge DeQuinzio 

points out in dissent, plaintiffs must still prove all the elements of a 10b-5 

claim, including scienter and reliance to prevail. (R. at 33) (DeQuinzio, J., 

dissenting). These elements will continue to serve as a check on those who seek 

to press frivolous claims to extort blameless parties. Because Cato is 

fundamentally responsible for the creation and dissemination of the false 

statements, this action is anything but frivolous and this Court should allow it 

to proceed. 

CONCLUSION 

For the foregoing reasons, this Court should reverse the judgment of the 

Fourteenth Circuit Court of Appeals. 

 
Respectfully submitted, 

 
______________________/s/ 

 
Team P10 

Counsel for Petitioner 

                                                
8 See generally, Private Securities Litigation Reform Act, 15 U.S.C. § 78u–4 et 
seq. (1995) (imposing heightened pleading standards on private plaintiffs 
including requiring proof of loss causation, and imposing a stay of discovery 
during the pendency of a motion to dismiss. 




